FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
6/20/2025 10:19 AM
NO. 40060-3-III

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/20/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

Case #: 1043066

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Kimberly Bogardus,

Appellant/Plaintiff

v.

The City of Yakima, et al,

Respondent/Defendant

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Favian Valencia, WSBA#43802

Attorney for Appellant Sunlight Law, PLLC 306 Holton Ave Yakima, WA 98902 (509) 388-0231

I. INTRODUCTION
II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW3
III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE8
IV. ARGUMENT REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED18
A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with U.S. Supreme Court Precedent and Creates an Issue of First Impression Regarding an Employee's Receipt of SSDI Benefits
B. This Court Should Establish a Clear Standard for Claims of Failure to Engage in the Interactive Process
C. This Court Should Establish a Clear Standard for Claims of Failure to Engage in the Interactive Process
D. The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with this Court's Precedent Regarding an Employer's Duty to Reassign a Disabled Employee
E. The Court of Appeals Erred by Heightening the Burden for Employees to Demonstrate Pretext, Even with Direct Written Evidence of a Discriminatory Motive
F. The Lower Court's Decision Undermines the Liberal Construction of WLAD and Creates Confusion Regarding the Rights of Disabled Workers
V. CONCLUSION 28
Appendix A: Decision of the Social Security Administration, Administrative Law Judge Jennifer Smiley: April 27, 2023

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)

Cases
Cleveland v. Policy Management Systems Corp., 526 U.S. 795, 119 S. Ct. 1597 (1999)
Barnett v. U.S. Air, Inc., 228 F.3d 1105 (9th Cir. 2000)4
Bittner v. Symetra Nat'l Life Ins. Co., 558 P.3d 177 (Wash. App. 2024)
Davis v. Microsoft Corp., 149 Wash. 2d 521, 70 P.3d 126 (2003)
<i>Dean v. Municipality of Metropolitan Seattle-Metro</i> , 1 0 4 Wash. 2d 627, 70 8 P. 2d 393 (1985)
Johnson v. Chevron U.S, Inc., 244 P.3d 438, 159 Wash. App. 18 (2010)
Johnson v. Chevron U.S.A., Inc., 159 Wash. App. 18 (2010)24
Mackey v. Home Depot USA, Inc., 12 Wash. App. 557, 459 P.3 d 371 (2 0 2 0)
Mikkelsen v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Kittitas Cnty., 189 Wash. 2d 516, 404 P.3d 464 (2017)

Mikkelsen v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1, 189 Wash. 2d 516 (2017)26
Smith v. Clark Cnty. Sch. Dist., 727 F.3d 950 (9th Cir. 2013)
U.S. Airways, Inc. v. Barnett, 535 U.S. 391, 122 S. Ct. 1516 (2●02)
Statutes
RCW 49.6●1
RCW 49.6●.●2●27
Regulations
Title 20 C.F.R. § 404.1520
State Rules
Wash. RAP 13.4
Wash. RAP 18.1728

I. INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with longstanding precedent and the rights of Washington disabled employees that are willing and able to work with reasonable accommodations. The decision creates a vague presumption that employees who request or receive Social Security Disability Insurance (SSDI) benefits are presumed to be unable to perform the essential functions of their job, which is in direct conflict with established precedent in *Cleveland v. Policy Management Systems Corp.*, 526 U.S. 795 (1999). Besides conflicting with the *Cleveland* precedent, this is also an issue of first impression for Washington State Courts.

This case also provides the perfect opportunity to establish clear guidance as to what makes up a claim of failure to engage in the interactive process. Currently, failure by an employer to engage in the interactive process is an actionable violation of the Washington Law Against Discrimination, 49.60 RCW ("WLAD"), but we do not have a clear legal standard of how an

employee can establish this claim. Dean v. Municipality of Metropolitan Seattle-Metro, 104 Wn.2d 627, 632, 708 P.2d 393 (Wash. 1985). The question posed by the facts in this case is: Does an employer violate WLAD by delaying the interactive process for six years, despite receiving consistent medical documentation explaining that the employee's medical condition affected her ability to perform her job and was being aggravated by her job duties? The Court of Appeals decision fails to find a failure to engage in the interactive process despite the fact that Appellant and her physicians requested accommodations over a period of six years, and on the sixth year that Respondent engaged in an interactive conversation, it refused available accommodations in the form of time off and transfer to vacant positions.

The Court of Appeals decision also heightens the burden for employees to demonstrate pretext, even with direct written evidence that the employer's termination letter cited the use of Family Medical Leave Act ("FMLA"), Washington State Paid Family and Medical Leave ("PFML"), and reasonable accommodation time off as part of the reason for Appellant's written reprimand, suspension and termination.

The conflicts created by the Court of Appeals decision sow confusion for employees, employers, and the lower courts, necessitating this Court's intervention. Clear guidance is urgently needed to ensure that disabled workers in Washington are not forced to choose between seeking essential federal benefits and contributing to our workforce. Allowing disabled individuals who are capable of working with accommodation to remain in the workforce is not only a matter of individual dignity and right but also a significant benefit to the overall economy of Washington State. This Court should grant review to resolve these critical legal conflicts, reaffirm the robust protections of the WLAD, and provide clear guidelines for all.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The *Cleveland* precedent acknowledges that the Social Security Disability Insurance (SSDI) eligibility standard is

different from the employment disability accommodation standard, and that "there are too many situations in which an SSDI claim and an ADA claim can comfortably exist side by side." 526 U.S. 795, 802-03, 119 S.Ct. 1597 (1999). Did the lower court err in holding that Appellant's application for and receipt of SSDI benefits created a presumption that she was unable to perform the essential functions of her job with reasonable accommodation and that Appellant needed to expressly "explain" her SSDI claim even when SSDI administrative judge's written decision is consistent with Appellant's claims, thereby creating an additional element and burden of proof for employees on SSDI to prove a claim of failure to accommodate under WLAD.

2. Failure of an employer to engage in the interactive process is an actionable violation of WLAD and the cause of action accrues when the employer has knowledge that the employee needs an accommodation. *Dean*, 104 Wn.2d 627, 632; *Barnett v. U.S. Air, Inc.*, 228 F.3d 1105, 1114-15 (9th Cir.

- 2000), vacated and remanded on other grounds, U.S. Airways, Inc. v. Barnett, 535 U.S. 391, 122 S.Ct. 1516 (2002). Did the lower court err in failing to find that there was an issue of fact that precluded summary judgment when Respondent had written notice of Appellant's disability and the aggravation of her disability caused by her job of driving a bus, and delayed engaging in the interactive process for six (6) years.
- 3. If an employee becomes disabled and cannot be accommodated in his or her position, the employer must take affirmative steps to help the employee identify and apply for any vacant position for which the employee is qualified. *Davis v. Microsoft Corp.*, 149 Wn.2d 521, 536–37, 70 P.3d 126 (2003). Did the lower err in affirming summary judgment for Respondent when Appellant's disability was being aggravated by her regular job of driving a bus and Respondent refused to consider transferring her to a vacant office position that she was qualified for, thereby, abrogating *Davis*.

- 4. Whether an employer has made a sufficient effort to provide a reasonable accommodation is generally a question of fact for the jury. *Johnson v. Chevron U.S.., Inc.*, 244 P.3d 438, 159 Wash.App. 18, 29-32 (Wash. App. 2010); *Davis*, 149 Wn.2d 521, 536–37. Did the lower court err in affirming summary judgment for Respondent when there was evidence that Respondent denied Appellant's request to be re-assigned to a vacant office position and/or be allowed time off as an accommodation and determined these facts to be insufficient to prove a claim of reasonable accommodation?
- 5. To survive summary judgment on the element of pretext in WDVPP claims, "the employee needs only to present evidence sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact whether 'discrimination was a substantial factor in an adverse employment action, not the only motivating factor." *Mikkelsen v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Kittitas Cnty.*, 189 Wash.2d 516, 404 P.3d 464 (2017). Did the Court of Appeals err by failing to find an issue of fact with regards to pretext when Respondent's

termination letter expressly cited the Appellant's use of legally protected medical leave and accommodations as a reason for her discharge, thereby creating a new standard for employees to prove pretext at the summary judgment stage?

- 6. An employee can establish her claim of WDVPP with direct evidence and preclude summary judgment without having to undergo through the *McDonnell Douglas* burdenshifting analysis. *Mackey v. Home Depot USA, Inc.*, 12 Wn. App. 2d 557, 571, 459 P.3d 371, 381 (2020); *Bittner v. Symetra Nat'l Life Ins. Co.*, 558 P.3d 177, 187 (Wash. App. 2024). Did the Court of Appeals decision err in requiring Appellant to prove pretext under the *McDonnell Douglas* burden-shifting analysis despite Respondent's termination letter explicitly stating that her reprimands, suspension and termination were partly due to taking time off that was designated as "FMLA," "PFML" and taken as an accommodation?
- 7. WLAD holds that it is to be construed liberally to accomplish its purpose of protecting employees from unfair

treatment and discrimination. RCW 49.60.010-.020. Did the Court of Appeals decision err by failing to construe Appellant's WLAD claims liberally?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Kimberly Bogardus began her employment with Respondent, the City of Yakima, as a bus driver in 2001. CP 791. Around 2014, Ms. Bogardus began experiencing debilitating migraines and related back and neck conditions that were progressively aggravated by the physical demands of her job. CP 262. On September 11, 2014, Appellant's physician provided Respondent written notice in the form of an FMLA form requesting intermittent time off that explained:

"On occasion when flaring up, difficult to turn head to drive. [...] When this flares up, it is difficult for patient to drive bus. Difficult to turn head from side to side. When neck pain flares up it triggers her migraine headaches." CP 273-276.

Appellant cannot predict when the migraines are coming on, but she can tell when they are about to happen because she feels "off." CP 414. Appellant's physicians recertified her

request for FMLA time off for medical treatment and intermittently for her migraines each year on October 16, 2016, November 30, 2016, January 24, 2017, March 30, 2017, March 30, 2018, September 26, 2018, and March 30, 2019. CP 133. From 2016 until her termination in 2020, Appellant took time off and used her FMLA, PFML, vacation time, sick time and leave without pay—as categorized by Respondent's time off tracker—to avoid driving with migraines, to get medical treatment and take time off to try to heal. CP 148-154, 262, 273-284.

On September 11, 2019, Appellant's physician submitted to Respondent another FMLA form requesting time off for medical treatment and intermittent time off for her migraines, which, for the first time, categorized the migraines as a permanent condition. CP 281-284. The document also informed Respondent that:

"Patient [suffers from] headache pain [and] migraines. These can induce vision changes,

numbness, paresthesia of upper extremities, nausea and emesis." CP 283.

Despite receiving these written notices from Appellant's physicians since 2014 and Appellant having to consistently take time off, Respondent failed to initiate any interactive process to discuss accommodations with Ms. Bogardus until July 20, 2020. CP 604-05.

From 2014-2020, Respondent had vacant positions that did not require driving a bus that Appellant was qualified to perform: Respondent had the Transit Office position and filled with other employees on 11/7/14 and 7/15/19; and the Transit Dispatcher position on 6/2/16, 10/1/16, 11/2/16, and 2/17/20. CP 267, 587.

At the July 20, 2020 meeting, Appellant provided
Respondent with a chart note from her physician stating, in
part, "job of driving aggravating pain." CP 266, 623-626. As
documented in Respondent's representative's hand written
notes memorializing this meeting, Ms. Bogardus explained that
she suffered from bulging disks and pinched nerves causing

migraine headaches since 2014 (increasing due to menopause), and also suffered severe carpal tunnel on both hands, and that she had been getting treatment from a new doctor who recommended surgery, exercises and a wrist brace. CP 610-11. Appellant specifically requested a transfer to the dispatcher and information window positions. CP 611. The dispatcher and information window positions had been granted to her coworker bus drivers as a general transfer and as a light duty position for bus drivers that needed light duty due to surgeries. CP 550. Respondent simply responded to this request for the dispatcher position transfer with: "No. That's not going to happen." CP 550, 610-11. Respondent's only justification of its refusal to offer these position transfers is that the dispatcher position required regular and reliable attendance that Appellant was not able to fulfill. CP 267. The only accommodations that Respondent offered at this meeting was an "Extra Board" and part time bus driver job, which would still require driving. CP 136, 548-549. The only difference of the Extra Board bus driver position was that it would have required Appellant to confirm whether she could work her shift by 2 PM the prior day, which did not help Appellant because she could not predict her migraines a day in advance. CP 548-549. This would have left her in the same position because if she confirmed a shift, and then had a migraine come on, she would still need to call in to request time off. *Id.* Appellant explained this to Respondent and the only response she got was: "Oh, yeah. I guess that wouldn't work." CP 548-549.

On July 20, 2020, Appellant had exhausted her FMLA time off for 2020. CP 137. Appellant made an effort to continue working in her bus driver position and was able to successfully perform her duties intermittently until August 17, 2020. During that time, however, on July 28, 2020, Appellant filed a Labor and Industries claim for carpel tunnel syndrome related to driving the bus. CP 175. Thereafter, Appellant had to call in sick on August 4th and 5th—Respondent still failed to grant

Appellant time off as an accommodation for this time off. CP 602, 685. On August 11, 2020, Appellant, for the first time, directly requested in writing unpaid leave as an accommodation. CP 137-138. Respondent denied this accommodation request citing a policy of only granting time off as an accommodation for "temporary medical condition when an employee has provided an anticipated date of return"—this policy was never produced by Respondent. CP 138.

On August 17, 2020, Respondent assigned Appellant to drive a bus with a broken down suspension and broken down seats. CP 78. While driving this bus, Appellant drove over a bump that jarred her neck and exacerbated her back, neck and migraines. *Id.* Appellant took time off to see her physician. *Id.* Respondent admits that it received a:

"[D]octor's note dated August 20, 2020 that retroactively excused Ms. Bogardus from work in connection with 'migraines and back pain' and stated, 'Return to normal duties 8/24/2020.'" CP 266.

Respondent ignored this request for time off and simply categorized the time off as "leave without pay." CP 138.

Respondent Disciplined and Terminated Appellant For Taking Protected Time Off

On August 27, 2020, Respondent terminated Ms. Bogardus. CP 299-302. The termination letter indicates that the termination was due to taking time off that was categorized as unauthorized leave without pay—it cited August 4-5, 2020 as a violation and violations that were documented in reprimand letters dated February 14, 2017 and September 10, 2018. CP 299. Each of these reprimand letters and the termination letter faults Appellant for using up her PFML and FMLA leave which is the reason that Respondent categorized her additional time off as "unauthorized leave without pay." CP 136, 292, 295. Respondent initially approved and categorized, in its time off tracker, Appellant's time off as "FMLA" and "PFML"—the same time off that is partly used against Appellant in the termination and reprimand letters. CP 152-154.

Appellant's Applications For And Receipt of SSDI Benefits

On May 12, 2020, Appellant applied for Social security disability indicating that her illness, injuries or conditions limited her ability to work due how driving, having to turn her head, being bounced up and down was causing her consistent pain. CP 95. On October 18, 2021, the first SSDI application was denied. CP 613-614.

On January 13, 2021, Appellant's attorneys submitted a second SSDI application. CP 116-126. Appellant's attorney's—through an interviewer identified as "A. Sanchez"—documented in a "Disability Report" questionnaire that "Claimant's alleged onset date" was April 17, 2020—this questionnaire was not signed by Appellant. CP 78, 124. The Court of Appeals decision misinterpreted this fact by framing it as a statement made by Appellant on her "application that that she had stopped working on April 17, 2020" instead of a legal allegation made by Appellant's legal representatives. Ct. App. Decision at 5-6.

Appellant's second SSDI application was initially approved finding her disabled as of March 17, 2022. CP 615-18. After Appellant's legal representatives appealed, a second ruling was made that changed the effective date of disability. CP 195-200; App. 2-7. On April 20, 2023, SSDI administrative law judge, Jennifer Smiley, held a hearing and made the following relevant finding:

"2. The claimant has not engaged in substantial gainful activity since April 17, 2020, the alleged onset date (20 CFR 404.1520(b) and 404.1571 et seq.).

The earnings record indicates that the claimant worked at levels consistent with substantial gainful activity into 2020. [Ex 11D; 4D]. The evidence as a whole, including the claimants hearing testimony and statements to providers and to staff involved in her workers compensation claim, indicate that she had only been working intermittently from April 2020 into August 2020, when she was ultimately terminated due to her impairments and resulting absences. [Ex 4E; 2F]. There is no indication that the claimant worked at levels consistent with substantial gainful activity after the alleged onset date. I therefore find that the claimant was not engaged in substantial gainful activity since the alleged onset date." CP 195; App. 2.

In her decision, SSDI judge Smiley granted Appellant's SSDI application for her impairments of bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome, degenerative joint disease and degenerative disc disease of the lumbar and cervical spine, fibromyalgia, obesity, depressive disorder, anxiety disorder, and ADHD effective April 17, 2020. CP 195-196; App. 2-3.

Procedural History

On January 19, 2021, Appellant filed suit against
Respondent for failure to accommodate, disability
discrimination and wrongful discharge in violation of public
policy (Appellant made other claims, but those are not included
in this petition). The trial court granted summary judgment to
Respondent, and the Court of Appeals affirmed on April 3,
2025. Appellant filed a motion for reconsideration, which was
also denied by the Court of Appeals on May 21, 2025. This
petition timely follows.

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3) and/or (4) because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with established precedent from the U.S. Supreme Court and this Court, and it raises issues of substantial public interest that require this Court's intervention to provide clarity.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with U.S. Supreme Court Precedent and Creates an Issue of First Impression Regarding an Employee's Receipt of SSDI Benefits.

The Court of Appeals decision effectively creates a new, heightened burden for disabled Washington employees who have applied for or received SSDI benefits. This holding directly conflicts with the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in Cleveland v. Policy Mgmt. Sys. Corp., 526 U.S. 795 (1999); See also Smith v. Clark Cnty. Sch. Dist., 727 F.3d 950, 957 (9th Cir. 2013) (Finding that the employee's SSDI benefit applications did not inherently conflict with her ADA claim because SSDI

application did not consider the possibility of reasonable accommodation). In *Cleveland*, the Court held that the pursuit and receipt of SSDI benefits does not automatically estop a recipient from pursuing an ADA claim. *Id.* at 802-03. The Court reasoned that the two statutory schemes are not inherently in conflict because the Social Security

Administration (SSA) does not consider the availability of "reasonable accommodation" when determining disability. An individual can be "unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity" for SSDI purposes and simultaneously be a "qualified individual" who can perform the essential functions of her job *with* reasonable accommodation for ADA/WLAD purposes. *Id.*

The Court of Appeals erred by creating a presumption that Ms. Bogardus was unable to perform the essential functions of her job simply because she received SSDI benefits. It further erred by requiring her to "explain" an apparent contradiction when no true contradiction exists. The SSDI

administrative judge's decision explicitly noted that Ms. Bogardus worked intermittently until she was terminated in August of 2020 "due to her impairments and resulting absences." (CP 195; App. 2). This finding is perfectly consistent with Ms. Bogardus's WLAD claim: she could have continued to work had Respondent reasonably accommodated her need for intermittent leave or transferred her to a vacant position that did not aggravate her conditions. The lower court decision seems to hinge on its misinterpretation that appellant claimed that she had not worked at all after April 2020, but that is not what the record reflects. The SSDI ruling explicitly outlines the fact that it considered appellant testimony and her work records and specifically acknowledges that the record established that appellant did continue to work intermittently through August 2020, but found that it was not sufficient to constitute "substantial gainful activity" under its definition. *Id*. There are no inconsistencies between appellant claim of failure to accommodate, and her claim for SSDI benefits.

The lower court's decision forces disabled employees into an impossible choice: forgo essential disability benefits or forfeit their civil rights under WLAD. This is an issue of first impression for this Court and one of substantial public importance that requires clarification.

B. This Court Should Grant Review to Clarify the Standard for a Failure to Engage in the Interactive Process Claim, as the Lower Court Overlooked Respondent's Six-Year Failure to Act.

The WLAD requires employers to take affirmative steps to accommodate disabled employees. A core component of this duty is the interactive process. *Dean v. Mun. of Metro. Seattle*, 104 Wn.2d 627, 639 (1985). An employer's duty to engage in this process is triggered once it has notice that an employee has a disability requiring accommodation. *Id*.

In this case, Respondent had clear, written notice from Ms. Bogardus's physicians for six years that the physical demands of driving a bus aggravated her medical conditions.

Yet, for six years, Respondent did nothing. It made no inquiry

into the extent of her limitations or what accommodations might be possible. It was not until July 2020, at Ms. Bogardus's insistence, that any discussion occurred. This prolonged and willful inaction is a clear breach of the duty to engage in the interactive process. The Court of Appeals' failure to recognize this breach as a triable issue of fact effectively renders the employer's duty meaningless. This Court should grant review to establish a clear and workable standard for what constitutes a failure to engage in the interactive process, particularly in cases of unreasonable delay.

C. This Court Should Establish a Clear Standard for Claims of Failure to Engage in the Interactive Process.

This Court has held that when a disabled employee cannot be accommodated in their current position, reassignment to a vacant position for which the employee is qualified is a required form of reasonable accommodation. *Davis v.*Microsoft Corp., 149 Wn.2d 521, 536-37 (2003). The employer must "take affirmative steps to help the employee identify and

apply for any vacant position for which the employee is qualified." *Id*.

Here, Ms. Bogardus's job was aggravating her disability. Respondent had vacant positions—Transit Dispatcher and Transit Office Assistant—that did not involve driving and for which Ms. Bogardus was qualified. When Ms. Bogardus specifically requested a transfer to the dispatcher position during the July 2020 meeting, Respondent summarily refused, stating, "No. That's not going to happen." (CP 550, 610-11). Respondent's only justification was an unsubstantiated claim that she could not maintain "regular and reliable attendance," the very issue an accommodation is meant to address. This outright refusal to consider a viable and available accommodation is a direct violation of its duties under WLAD and this Court's holding in *Davis*. Furthermore, whether an accommodation is reasonable is a question of fact for a jury.

Johnson v. Chevron U.S.A., Inc., 159 Wn. App. 18, 29 (2010). Summary judgment was therefore inappropriate.

D. The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with this Court's Precedent Regarding an Employer's Duty to Reassign a Disabled Employee.

To survive summary judgment on a discrimination or retaliation claim, a plaintiff need only create a "genuine issue of material fact whether 'discrimination was a substantial factor in an adverse employment action...'" *Mikkelsen v. Pub. Util. Dist.*No. 1 of Kittitas Cnty., 189 Wn.2d 516, 526 (2017).

In this case, Ms. Bogardus presented direct, "smoking gun" evidence of Respondent's unlawful motive. The written reprimands, suspension notice, and termination letter explicitly state that the adverse actions were taken because Ms. Bogardus took time off. (CP 292, 295, 299). Respondent's own records show this time off was categorized as FMLA and PFML leave. (CP 152-154). An employer cannot lawfully discipline or terminate an employee for using legally protected leave.

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