FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/16/2025 1:07 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 1043066

Kimberly Bogardus, Appellant

v.

City of Yakima, Appellee

City of Yakima's Answer to Petition for Review

Bundy Law Group, PLLC 5429 E 111th Pl Tulsa, OK 74137 Attorneys for Appellee

/s Elena C. Bundy
ELENA C. BUNDY
WSBA No. 38836
(206) 518-3021
elena@bundylawgroup.com

/s Kristofer J. Bundy KRISTOFER J. BUNDY WSBA No. 19840 (206) 372-3627 kris@bundylawgroup.com

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. RAP 13.4(b)(1) does not apply because the Court of Appeals fully followed *Cleveland v. Policy Management Systems Corp.*, 526 U.S. 795 (1999).

Ms. Bogardus' primary argument for why this court should accept review is that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Cleveland*. This argument is belied by the facts and law of this case, and the Court of Appeals perfectly applied *Cleveland* to those facts.

The holding in *Cleveland* was that, because the plaintiff there failed to explain her contradictory positions, her case was dismissed under judicial estoppel:

we hold that an ADA plaintiff cannot simply ignore the apparent contradiction that arises out of the earlier SSDI total disability claim. Rather, she must proffer a sufficient explanation.

Cleveland at 806.

The Court of Appeals held the same here:

Here, Ms. Bogardus offered no explanation for why of how her assertion in her SSDI application that she was too disabled to work could be reconciled with her later position that she could, in fact, work had the City offered her a reasonable accommodation. . . . Because she provides no explanation for her contrary positions, her accommodation claim cannot survive the City's summary judgment motion.

See Bogardus v. City of Yakima, No. 40060-3-III (Wash. Ct. App. April 13, 2025) (unpublished) at p. 11 (emphasis added).

Ms. Bogardus incorrectly characterizes the holding of *Cleveland* so that she can argue that it conflicts with the Court of Appeals' decision below. It does not. The Court of Appeals properly applied *Cleveland's* holding by

focusing on whether Ms. Bogardus offered a sufficient explanation for her contradictory positions *at the summary judgment stage*. She offered nothing.

Therefore, the argument that the Court of Appeals decision contradicts *Cleveland* is incorrect. Review should not be accepted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

B. Review should not be accepted under RAP

13.4(b)(4) because the factual foundations of

Ms. Bogardus' arguments are false and

unsupported.

Ms. Bogardus' second argument for why review should be accepted is that the Court needs to give guidance as to "the standard for a failure to engage in the interactive process claim, as the lower court overlooked respondent's six-year failure to act." This argument fails for two reasons. First, it fails because there is more than sufficient caselaw on employers' duties to "engage in the interactive process" and to accommodate disabilities. *See e.g. Goodman v. Boeing Co.*, 127 Wn.2d 401, 408–409,

899 P.2d 1265 (1995); Frisino v. Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1, 160 Wn. App. 765, 783, 249 P.3d 1044 (2011).

Second, this argument is based on two false premises. The first false premise is that the City took no action for six years. Ms. Bogardus made the same argument at the trial court. The City responded with the following undisputed facts at the trial court and Court of Appeals:

Ms. Bogardus' Opening Brief contains statements that do not comply with RAP 10.3(a)(5) and (6), and should not be considered. For example, "Statement 5" states, "Respondent did not conduct any sort of interactive process or inquiry to even attempt to determine what type of accommodations could be provided to Ms. Bogardus until July 20, 2020," citing CP 604-605. *See* Opening Brief at p. 4. The Clerk's Papers cited by

¹ Ms. Bogardus' briefing at the trial court contained statements similarly unsupported (partially or fully) by citation or contradicted by evidence – so many unsupported and contradicted statements that the chart detailing them is 20-pages long. CP 712 (5:4-10), CP 726-745.

Ms. Bogardus consist of eight pages of Ms. Tresca's deposition testimony in which she references her personal involvement in the July 20, 2020 interactive meeting. CP 604-604. But Ms. Tresca's deposition testimony contained in CP 604-605 makes clear that there were other interactive discussions with Ms. Bogardus (*e.g.*, "there was a discussion with her about part-time, I would consider that an effort on part of the transit to accommodate her with some other type of alternative position."). CP 604 (45:9-20).

In addition, Ms. Tresca's testimony outside of CP 604-605 refers to other interactive discussions with Ms. Bogardus, for example:

We didn't have any specific formal requests from her in the beginning. We engaged in a discussion with her based on her requests for leave related to a medical condition. So I would consider that a request, even though she didn't specifically say she needed an accommodation... it would have been several years before the interactive discussion that we had when she returned from – and along the way there were discussions, and my understanding was there were also discussions at the department level with [Ms. Bogardus] about possible accommodations. CP 609

(39:2-11), CP 604 (45:9-20), CP 607-608 (55:3-58:5), CP 661 (72:6-25).

The declaration of Transit Manager, Alvie Maxey, also belies Ms. Bogardus' "Statement 5." Mr. Maxey declared that an alternative position was suggested to Ms. Bogardus prior to the July 20, 2020 meeting "as a possibility for allowing her time off as needed, improving her attendance, and building up her leave banks." CP 222.

And Ms. Bogardus' deposition testimony refutes "Statement 5." Ms. Bogardus testified that the City raised the possibility of the Extra Board position "quite a bit"; "That was – that was every time they – they were asked about trying to help me get another position. Extra board came up all the time. So I honestly don't know how many times, but it was quite a bit." CP 80 (191:25-192:11).

Also, the evidence shows that the City's focus on a position offering more flexible attendance made sense given that Ms. Bogardus admittedly did not tell anyone at the City that she couldn't physically do her job. CP 551 (144:8-25) (When asked who at the City she told that she wasn't able to physically do her job, Bogardus testified, 'I didn't because I was trying to do what I could do to keep my job.'). Nor did she tell anyone at the City that driving was causing her any sort of health problems:

Q. My question is did you tell anyone at the City that the bouncing around was causing you health problems? The bouncing around on the bus was causing you health problems?

A. No.

CP 550-551 (140:18-141:7). It was Ms. Bogardus who refused to try the Extra Board position because, as she explained during her deposition, she didn't want to reduce her hours for financial reasons. CP 552 (147:13-25).

Therefore, the claim that the City failed to act for six years is demonstrably false.

The second false premise is Ms. Bogardus' multiple statements in her Petition to the effect that, prior to the accommodation meeting on July 20, 2020, the City "receiv[ed] consistent medical documentation explaining that the employee's medical condition . . . was being aggravated by her job duties." *See* Petition for Review at p. 2. She makes the same claim twice on page 5 of the

Petition ("Respondent had written notice of . . . the aggravation of her disability caused by her job of driving a bus); ("Appellant's disability was being aggravated be her regular job"); then again on page 21 of the Petition ("Respondent had clear, written notice from Ms. Bogardus' physicians for six years that the physical demands of driving a bus aggravated her medical conditions. . . ."); and finally on p. 23 of the Petition ("here, Ms. Bogardus job was aggravating her disability.") Not one of these statements is supported by a citation to the record, rendering them meaningless.

In fact, Ms. Bogardus admitted during her deposition that neither she nor her doctors knew if the "bouncing around" on the bus triggered her migraines:

- Q. So when your primary health care provider says that triggers to migraines were unknown, that would not be an accurate statement; is that right?
- A. The unknown -- I don't know when I'm going to get them, and I can't say -

- I can't say for sure that that didn't help the situation, you know, being on the bus. Being bounced around all day. It didn't help the situation. I can't say that's a trigger, and they can't say. They don't know, and I don't know. But that, I'm sure, didn't help anything with the situation because it's physically putting my body through stress.

CP 550 (139:23-140:8). When asked by SSA, "What causes your headaches," Ms. Bogardus responded as follows:

MINUTE HON THE NEXT TO STARKING TO GOT A
MIGNAIN 11 115 WELLE GRANTATHER MY TO GETS MIGNAINS

3) STRESS LITEONSIA AND TO GETS MIGNAINS

CP 128 (Question 3). And she never told the City that driving was causing her any sort of health problem, or that she couldn't physically do her job. CP 550-551 (140:18-141:7), 551 (144:8-25) (When asked who at the City she told that she wasn't able to physically do her job, Ms. Bogardus testified, "I didn't because I was trying to do what I could do to keep my job.").

For these reasons, Ms. Bogardus' argument that review should be accepted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) also fails.

C. Ms. Bogardus' argument that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with Court of Appeals precedent is based on the inaccurate claim that she was terminated for taking protected leave – a fact clearly contradicted by the record.

Finally, Ms. Bogardus makes an argument starting on page 24 of her Petition that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with Court of Appeals precedent.

While she does not cite to RAP 13.4(2), the City will address her argument as if she had. That standard for accepting review fails because there is no conflict with precedent. Ms. Bogardus' argument is premised on the claim that she was terminated for taking legally protected leave. Petition for Review at p. 24. Yet, after a substantial review of the record, the Court of Appeals found that claim to be unsupported by the facts – she was terminated for repeatedly improperly taking leave:

The letter expressed that Ms. Bogardus was not terminated for using protected leave, but instead for being in an "unauthorized leave without pay status" for which she had been disciplined prior.

Bogardus v. City of Yakima, No. 40060-3-III (Wash. Ct. App. April 13, 2025) (unpublished) at p. 14.

Therefore, there is no conflict with Court of Appeals precedent and if Ms. Bogardus is seeking review under RAP 13.4(4), it should be denied.

IV. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court's dismissal of Ms. Bogardus' accommodation claim for multiple reasons, primarily because Ms. Bogardus applied for and received a finding of full and permanent disability by the Social Security Administration, meaning that she could not work, that it was not possible to accommodate her, and that her claim was barred by judicial estoppel after she failed to explain her contradictory positions. This is fully consistent with the

holding in *Cleveland v. Policy Management Systems*Corp., 526 U.S. 795 (1999).

And Ms. Bogardus' other arguments for why review should be accepted are based on demonstrably false and unsupported factual claims. The Petition for review should be denied.